RECEIVED

Aug 24 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000883

Sheena Brannon, Shane Stencil, Tina Sullivan, and Brandon Beaty

Appellants

v.

Henry Dargan McMaster, in his official capacity as Governor of the State
of South Carolina, and G. Daniel Ellzey, in his official capacity as
Director of the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

SOUTH CAROLINA APPLESEED
LEGAL JUSTICE CENTER

Adam Protheroe (S.C. Bar No. 78442)
Susan B. Berkowitz (S.C. Bar. No. 670)
P.O. Box 7187

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. **Did the Circuit Court err in finding that S.C. Code Ann. § 41-29-230 does not obligate Respondents to make Pandemic Unemployment Benefits available to the citizens of South Carolina?**

- II. **Did the Circuit Court err in finding that Appellants do not have a private right of action to challenge Respondents' early withdrawal from Pandemic Unemployment Benefits?**

- III. **Did the Circuit Court err in finding that Respondents have discretion to determine what constitutes an "advantage" under S.C. Code Ann. § 41-29-230?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants filed this action on July 28, 2021, seeking declaratory and injunctive relief or, in the alternative, a writ of mandamus directing Respondents to reinstate South Carolina's participation in three unemployment benefit programs that were part of the Congressional response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Appellants moved for a preliminary injunction the same day they filed their complaint. Respondents filed a brief in opposition to Appellants' motion and moved to dismiss Appellants' complaint on August 6, 2021.¹ The Circuit Court heard Appellants' motion for preliminary injunction and Respondents' motion to dismiss on August 11, 2021.

Appellants argued that Respondents' actions in prematurely withdrawing the State from these unemployment benefit programs before they expired on September 6, 2021, was in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 41-29-230(1) which requires Respondent South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce to participate in the programs at issue. Respondents chiefly argued that Section 41-29-230(1) does not require Respondents to participate in the benefit programs at issue, that Section 41-29-230(1) does not limit the Governor's discretionary authority to withdraw from these programs, and that Appellants' action was barred by Laches.

The Circuit Court heard Appellants' motion for preliminary injunction and Respondents' motion to dismiss on August 11, 2021. Shortly after the hearing ended, the Circuit Court indicated

¹ Respondents also moved to strike certifications that Appellants filed in support of their motion for preliminary injunction and to require that Appellants identify themselves. These certifications identified Appellants by first and last initial only. After an August 11th hearing, the Circuit Court denied Respondents' motion as moot in light of the fact that the Court had granted Respondents' motion to dismiss. But the Court also indicated that it would have granted the motion if it were not moot. Appellants have not appealed this ruling and have identified themselves in this appeal to avoid further dispute on this question.

by memorandum to the parties that it would deny Appellants' motion for preliminary injunction and grant Respondents' motion to dismiss. The Court entered a formal order to this effect on Friday, August 13, 2021, which was served on the parties' counsel electronically that day. Appellants served their notice of appeal on Monday, August 16, 2021.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Congress Provides Pandemic Unemployment Benefits to Alleviate the Economic Hardship Caused by the COVID-19 Pandemic

To alleviate some of the economic hardship that the COVID-19 pandemic caused, Congress enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security ("CARES") Act. Signed into law on March 27, 2020, the CARES Act provides for a variety of pandemic relief programs including several types of enhanced unemployment benefits. (collectively "Pandemic Unemployment Benefits"). 15 U.S.C. § 9001 *et seq.*

Pandemic Unemployment Assistance ("PUA") is one type of Pandemic Unemployment Benefit and is available to workers who would not otherwise be eligible for regular Unemployment Insurance ("UI") benefits including the self-employed, underemployed, independent contractors, and others whose unavailability or inability to work was caused by COVID-19. 15 U.S.C. § 9021. Pandemic Emergency Unemployment Compensation ("PEUC") is a second type of Pandemic Unemployment Benefit and provides additional weeks of benefits for workers who have exhausted their regular UI benefits. 15 U.S.C. § 9025. Federal Pandemic Unemployment Compensation ("FPUC") is a third type of Pandemic Unemployment Benefit which increases the weekly benefit amount available to an individual who receives any other type of unemployment benefit, including

regular UI, PUA, or PEUC. FPUC increased benefits by \$600 per week from March 27, 2020, through July 31, 2020. 15 U.S.C. § 9023. From July 31, 2020, to December 27, 2020, FPUC benefits lapsed. They were reinstated beginning December 27, 2020, at \$300 per week and are currently scheduled to continue through September 6, 2021. Continued Assistance for Unemployed Workers Act of 2020 (“CAUWA”). Pub. L. No. 116-260, § 200–01, 206; American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (“ARPA”). Pub. L. No. 117-2, § 9013 (March 11, 2021).

Funds have been appropriated by congress for Pandemic Unemployment Benefits and are available in the Unemployment Trust Fund to be distributed to eligible South Carolinians through September 6, 2021. ARPA §§ 9011, 9013, and 9016.² The costs of Pandemic Unemployment Benefits and the costs to states of administering these programs, including startup costs and ongoing administration costs, are 100% federally funded. 15 U.S.C. §§ 9021(f)(2), 9023(d)(1)(A), 9025(d)(2)(A).³ Pandemic Unemployment Benefits and administration costs are funded through Sections 901, 904, and 905 of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1101(a), 1104(a), and 1105(a). 15 U.S.C. §§ 9021(g), 9025(d).

Pandemic Unemployment Benefits and regular UI benefits both operate under the same Social Security Act (“SSA”) infrastructure. The state agency that processes claims, determines eligibility, and pays regular UI benefits, the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce (“DEW”) in this case, does the same for the Pandemic Unemployment Benefits. The features of state law which apply to key aspects of regular UI, and which are mandated by the SSA

²The CARES Act provided for three additional types of enhanced unemployment benefits which are not at issue in this case.

– like appeal procedures, overpayments, fraud determinations, and work availability or search requirements – also apply to the Pandemic Unemployment Benefits. *See, e.g.*, 15 U.S.C. §§ 9021(c)(5)(B)(ii), 9023(f)(4), 9025(a)(4)(B), (e)(4).

Respondents Prematurely End South Carolina’s Participation in Pandemic Unemployment Benefits.

On May 6, 2021, Director Ellzey issued a memorandum to Governor McMaster purporting to assess the impact should South Carolina decide to “opt-out” of Pandemic Unemployment Benefits effective June 27, 2021, rather than participate through the currently scheduled end of those programs in early September 2021. R. p. 142. In his memorandum, Director Ellzey estimated that such action would result in the loss of the following amounts of federal funding between June 27, 2021, and September 4, 2021:

Program	Anticipated 10-Week Funding Loss (June 27, 2021 – September 4, 2021)
FPUC	\$370.0 million
PEUC	\$146.0 million
PUA	\$62.0 million
Total	\$578 million⁴

⁴ DEW estimates that an additional \$7.3 million in benefits will be lost during this time under the three Pandemic UI Programs that are not at issue in this case. R. p. 142.

Director Ellzey estimated that the total loss of federal funds would be between \$600 million and \$650 million, or around \$63 million for each week of lost program time. R. p. 142. Other sources indicate that closer to \$900 million in federal funds would be lost because of Respondents' actions.⁵ The same day Director Ellzey issued his memorandum, Governor McMaster directed DEW to terminate South Carolina's participation in the Pandemic Unemployment Benefits effective June 30, 2021. R. p. 144.⁶

The effects of Respondents' actions on vulnerable South Carolinians were swift and dramatic. In the first week after Respondents opted out of Pandemic Unemployment Benefits, the number of South Carolinians receiving unemployment benefits of any kind fell by more 71,000, a reduction of more than 82%.⁷

	June 27 – July 3	July 4 – July 10	Change
Individuals receiving Unemployment Benefits of any kind	87,018	15,414	(71,604)

⁵ Stettner, Andrew, *Fact Sheet: What's at Stake As States Cancel Federal Unemployment Benefits*, The Century Foundation, May 13, 2021 (available at <https://tcf.org/content/commentary/fact-sheet-whats-stake-states-cancel-federal-unemployment-benefits/>).

⁶ Because the last full week of unemployment for which benefits could be claimed before June 30, 2021 ended on June 26, 2021, Respondents' decision effectively ended benefits on June 26th.

⁷ <https://www.dew.sc.gov/data-and-statistics/data-dashboard> (accessed July 14, 2021, for June 27-July 3 data and accessed July 15, 2021, for July 4-July 10 data)

South Carolinians received over \$39,000,000 less in Pandemic Unemployment Benefits between July 4, 2021, and July 10, 2021, than they did the week before Respondents’ decision to opt out of those benefits took effect.⁸ This weekly loss will most likely increase as Respondents’ decision takes full effect and DEW estimates an average loss of approximately \$63 million per week. R. p. 142.

	June 27 – July 3	July 4 – July 10	Change
FPUC Benefits Paid	\$29,311,525.00	\$3,479,806.00	(\$25,831,719.00)
PEUC Benefits Paid	\$10,583,318.00	\$1,062,149.00	(\$9,521,169.00)
PUA Benefits Paid	\$4,276,299.00	\$445,028.00	(\$3,831,271.00)
Total	\$44,171,142.00	\$4,986,983	(\$39,184,159.00)

While Respondents’ decision to opt out of Pandemic Unemployment Benefits has taken effect, that action is revocable. On July 12, 2021, the United States Department of Labor (“DOL”) issued guidance to state workforce agencies which clarified that “[a]ny state that has provided notice to [DOL] of its intent to terminate any of the Pandemic Unemployment Benefits prior to the

⁸ <https://www.dew.sc.gov/data-and-statistics/data-dashboard> (accessed July 14, 2021, for June 27-July 3 data and accessed July 15, 2021, for July 4-July 10 data)

September 6, 2021, end date may reinstitute participation in any or all programs it previously indicated it would be terminating.” R. p. 152.

DOL’s July 12 guidance indicates that if the date on which a state has indicated it will terminate participation in Pandemic Unemployment Benefit programs has passed, as it has in South Carolina, those programs may still be restarted, but the state may need to enter into a new agreement with DOL to reinstitute operations. Doing so may result in a lapse in FPUC and PEUC benefits because the new agreement would become effective the week of unemployment after that agreement is signed. R. p. 152. Thus, every week that passes without an agreement between DEW and DOL to administer Pandemic Unemployment Benefits may result in the permanent loss of tens of millions in federal unemployment benefits for South Carolinians unemployed through no fault of their own, including Appellants.⁹ DOL has indicated that PUA benefits will not lapse if a state enters into a new agreement to administer these benefits because the state would be required to provide individuals receiving PUA an opportunity to certify for the missing weeks. R. p. 152.

Tens of thousands of South Carolina families have faced, and continue to face, significant hardships because of Respondents’ actions. Appellants’ stories provide a few examples of these hardships, which include the risk of homelessness, loss of utility service, food insecurity, and lack of needed medical treatment.

⁹ It appears that the state of Indiana has been able to reinstate all Pandemic Unemployment Benefits retroactively after that state’s governor prematurely withdrew from those programs and his withdrawal was declared unlawful under a statute very similar to our Section 41-29-230(1). *See* R. p. 464. However, DOL has not issued guidance which indicates that this result would be replicable or whether it is permanent. Thus, the possibility of permanent benefit loss remains.

Appellants filed this action on July 28, 2021, in the Court of Common Pleas for Richland County as *S.B. v. McMaster*, Case No. 2021-CP-40-03774. R. p. 17. Appellants moved for a preliminary injunction the same day. R. p. 155. Respondents moved to dismiss on August 6, 2021. R. p. 224.¹⁰ By order dated August, 13, 2021, the Circuit Court denied Appellants' motion for preliminary injunction and granted Respondents' motion to dismiss with prejudice finding 1) that Appellants do not have a cause of action to challenge Respondents' early withdrawal from Pandemic Unemployment Benefits, 2) that Section 41-29-230(1) does not obligate Respondents to make Pandemic Unemployment Benefits available to the citizens of South Carolina, and 3) Respondents have discretion to determine what is an "advantage" under Section 41-29-230(1). R. p. 2. Appellants filed and served their notice of appeal on August 16, 2021. R. p. 398. Appellants moved for emergency review and expedited certification to this Court pursuant to Rule 204(b), SCACR on August 16, 2021. R. p. 414. On August 17, 2021, the South Carolina Court of Appeals entered an order transferring this case to this Court. R. p. 13. That same day, Respondents filed a return to Appellants' motion for expedited review. R. p. 467. On August 19, 2021, this Court entered an order granting Appellants' motion to certify and request for expedited consideration. R. p. 14.

¹⁰ Respondents also moved to strike Appellants' certifications, which had been filed identifying Appellants by initials only, or required that Appellants publicly identify themselves. Appellants provided Respondents with unredacted certifications, and the Circuit Court subsequently denied Respondents' motion as moot because the Court granted Respondents' motion to dismiss. However, the Circuit Court indicated that it would have granted Respondent's motion to require Appellants to identify themselves had it not been rendered moot. As noted above, Appellants have not appealed this ruling and have identified themselves in this appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The questions presented in this case are subject to *de novo* review. "An order granting or denying an injunction is reviewed for abuse of discretion." *Richland Cty. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 422 S.C. 292, 309, 811 S.E.2d 758, 767 (2018). "An abuse of discretion arises where the trial court was controlled by an error of law or where its order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support." *Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Charleston Cty. Election Comm'n*, 336 S.C. 174, 179, 519 S.E.2d 567, 570 (1999) (citing *Tri-County Ice and Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co.*, 303 S.C. 237, 242, 399 S.E.2d 779, 782 (1990)). "Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law *de novo*." *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008)

ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court erred in finding that S.C. Code Ann. § 41-29-230 does not obligate Respondents to make Pandemic Unemployment Benefits available to the citizens of South Carolina.**

The Circuit Court found that Pandemic Unemployment Benefits are not "advantages available under the provisions of the Social Security Act that relate to unemployment compensation" and, as a result, Section 41-29-230 does not impose any obligation on Respondents to make these benefits available to South Carolinians. R. pp. 5-7. This finding was erroneous for the reasons that follow.

The Court's rationale is based on the fact that Pandemic Unemployment Benefits were enacted under provisions of the CARES Act rather than as amendments to the Social Security Act

(“SSA”). R. pp. 5-7. However, Section 41-29-230 does not require that benefits be enacted as amendments to the SSA in order for DEW to be obligated to secure them. Rather, benefits need only be “available under the provisions of the [SSA]” to be covered by Section 41-29-230.

The relevant statute provides that

In the administration of Chapters 27 through 41 of this title, **the department must cooperate with the United States Secretary of Labor to the fullest extent consistent with the provisions of these chapters, and act**, through the promulgation of appropriate rules, regulations, administrative methods and standards, **as necessary to secure to this State and its citizens all advantages available under the provisions of the Social Security Act that relate to unemployment compensation**, the Federal Unemployment Tax Act, the Wagner-Peyser Act, and the Federal-State Extended Unemployment Compensation Act of 1970.

S.C. Code Ann. § 41-29-230(1) (emphasis added). As an initial matter, because Section 41-29-230 is social legislation, it should be construed to provide protection to as many employees as possible. *C.f. Stone Manufacturing Co. v. South Carolina Employment Security Commission*, 219 S.C. 239, 64 S.E. (2d) 644 (1951) (referring to the Employment Security Law, the predecessor of the statutory scheme at issue in this case).

Contrary to the Circuit Court’s rationale, nothing in Section 41-29-230 requires that an “advantage” be enacted by amendment to the Social Security Act in order for it to be “available under the provisions of the [SSA].”¹¹ The Circuit Court’s interpretation reads language into the statute that is not there.

¹¹ Section 41-29-230(1) also requires that the advantage “relate to unemployment compensation.” It appears to be undisputed that Pandemic Unemployment Benefits meet this criterion.

Further, Pandemic Unemployment Benefits are “available under the provisions of the [SSA]” and would not be available but for those provisions. Interpreting this language breaks down into two questions: (1) what does “available” mean, and (2) what does it mean for benefits to be available under the provisions of the SSA? “Unless there is something in the statute requiring a different interpretation, the words used in a statute must be given their ordinary meaning.” *Anderson v. South Carolina Election Comm’n*, 397 S.C. 551, 556, 725 S.E.2d 704, 707 (2012). Answering the first question is fairly simple. “Available” means “present or ready for immediate use.”¹² The second question is whether the availability of Pandemic Unemployment Benefits is pursuant to the provisions of the SSA. Answering this question requires a look into what the SSA does.

Among other things, the SSA establishes the Unemployment Trust Fund, 42 U.S.C. § 1104, and two accounts within that Fund: the employment security administration account and extended unemployment compensation account, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1101 and 1105, respectively. Each of the Pandemic Unemployment Benefits is funded through one of these accounts. PUA benefits are funded through the extended unemployment compensation account of the Unemployment Trust Fund. 15 U.S.C. § 9021(g)(1)(A). Any costs that states incur in the administration of PUA benefits are funded through the employment security administration account of the Unemployment Trust Fund. 15 U.S.C. § 9021(g)(2)(A). PEUC benefits and their administration costs are likewise funded through the extended unemployment compensation and employment security administration accounts of the Unemployment Trust Fund, respectively. 15 U.S.C. §

¹² <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/available>

9025(d)(1)(A) (PEUC benefits); 15 U.S.C. § 9025(d)(2)(A) (PEUC administration costs). FPUC benefits are included in the weekly benefit amount for both the PUA and PEUC programs and, as a result, are funded through the extended unemployment compensation account just like those benefits. 15 U.S.C. § 9021(d)(1)(A) (defining PUA amount of assistance to include FPUC); 15 U.S.C. § 9025(a)(4) (same for PEUC). In short, the money to pay Pandemic Unemployment Benefits to claimants and the money to pay the costs that states incur in administering these benefits is in accounts created by the SSA. This money is available, that is “present and ready for immediate use.” because of, and only because of, the provisions of the SSA.

In support of its conclusion that Pandemic Unemployment Benefits are not available under the provisions of the SSA, the Circuit Court notes that “the Social Security Act does not provide any unemployment benefits (*i.e.* a check) to any individual claimant.” R. p. 6. This is true, but irrelevant. Funding for Pandemic Unemployment Benefits is provided either as an advance payment to States, or by way of reimbursement to the States, as determined by the United States Secretary of Labor. 15 U.S.C. § 9021(f)(3) (PUA), 15 U.S.C. § 9023(d)(1)(B) (FPUC), 15 U.S.C. § 9025(c)(3) (PEUC). Ultimately, benefits are paid by the state to individual claimants. But these benefits are still available under the provisions of the SSA because they are funded, administered, and governed by the provisions of the SSA and would not be present or ready for immediate use without these provisions. The fact that the state ultimately cuts the check to an individual claimant does not change this fact.

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