RECEIVED

Aug 27 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000883

Case No. 2021-CP-40-03774

Sheena Brannon, Shane Stencil, Tina Sullivan, and Brandon Beaty,..... Appellants,

v.

Henry Dargan McMaster, in his official capacity as Governor of the
State of South Carolina; and G. Daniel Ellzey, in his official capacity
as Director of the South Carolina Department of Workforce and
Employment, Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Rebecca Laffitte
Robert E. Tyson, Jr.
Vordman Carlisle Traywick, III
ROBINSON GRAY STEPP &
LAFFITTE, LLC

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

This issue is entirely of Appellants own making. Governor McMaster announced his decision that South Carolina would stop participating in PUA, PEUC, and FPUC on May 6, 2021. (R. pp. 145–46). That termination was effective 55 days later, on June 30, 2021. (R. p. 146). Appellants did not bring this lawsuit until July 28—another four weeks later—and did not even seek a temporary restraining order. (R. pp. 20–37, 158). After the circuit court denied Appellants’ Motion for Preliminary Injunction and granted Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss on August 13, Appellants then waited three more days to appeal. And when they appealed, Appellants did not seek a writ of supersedeas or an injunction pending appeal.

Had Appellants moved more quickly, they could have sought to preserve the status quo and this entire dispute could have been resolved *before* South Carolina’s participation in PUA, PEUC, and FPUC terminated. Then, if Appellants were right on the merits, DEW could have simply continued operating as it had been through the September 6 deadline.

But as it stands now, South Carolina has not participated in these programs for nearly two months, and Appellants are seeking a mandatory injunction to change the status quo. Such a drastic remedy is not available, given both Appellants’ delay and the impending end of the programs.² *Cf. Poynter Invs., Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 586, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17 (2010) (a “preliminary injunction should issue *only* if necessary to preserve the status quo” (emphasis added)); *Gantt v. Clemson Agr. Coll. of S.C.*, 208 F. Supp. 416, 418 (W.D.S.C. 1962) (a mandatory injunction should be granted only “in rare instances in which the facts and law are clearly in favor of the moving party”).

II. Appellants do not have a private right of action.

Before even reaching the merits of Appellants’ claims, they face another insurmountable threshold hurdle: They do not have the right to bring this action.

² Appellants’ conclusion to their brief asks this Court to enter a preliminary injunction. *See* Appellants’ Br. 19. On direct appeal, that is not relief that Appellants can obtain. And in any event, their brief fails to raise any arguments about the preliminary injunction factors other than likelihood of success on the merits, thereby waiving those issues. *See* Rule 208(b)(1)(E), SCACR. For example, Appellants never discuss how the declaratory judgment they demand is not an adequate remedy at law. *See S.C. Lottery Comm’n v. Glassmeyer*, 433 S.C. 244, 250, 857 S.E.2d 889, 892 (2021).

Appellants alternatively request in their conclusion that this Court issue a writ of mandamus. *See* Appellants’ Br. 19. But they devote no time to discussing the elements for a writ of mandamus, *see Wilson v. Preston*, 378 S.C. 348, 354, 662 S.E.2d 580, 582–83 (2008), and thus have also waived that issue. Regardless, Appellants are not entitled to “the highest judicial writ” because they cannot show “a specific right to be enforced, a positive legal duty to be performed, and no other specific remedy.” *City of Rock Hill v. Thompson*, 394 S.C. 197, 199, 563 S.E.2d 101, 102 (2002).

A litigant has a private right of action under a statute only if the General Assembly intends to create such a right. *See Georgetown Cty. League of Women Voters v. Smith Land Co.*, 393 S.C. 350, 353, 713 S.E.2d 287, 289 (2011). When the General Assembly does not expressly create a private right of action, an implied private right of action exists only “if the legislation was enacted for the special benefit of the private party.” *Dema v. Tenet Physician Servs.-Hilton Head, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 115, 121, 678 S.E.2d 430, 433 (2009). By contrast, “[i]f the overall purpose of the statute is to aid society and the public in general, the statute is not enacted for the special benefit of a private party,” and there is no private right of action. *Id.*

Appellants’ claims here are based on section 41-29-230. That section requires DEW to promulgate rules, regulations, methods, and standards to secure advantages “to this State and its citizens” available under four specified federal laws. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-29-230(1). It is hard to fathom how a statute could be more about the “public in general” than a statute that focuses on “this State and its citizens.” *Id.* If a private right of action existed, the statute would have to read something like advantages for “unemployment claimants.”

Buttressing this conclusion is section 41-29-25(D), which provides, “Nothing in this section gives rise to a cause of action against the executive director or any decision made by the executive director concerning departmental operations or development.” *Id.* § 41-29-25(D). That section charges the executive director with acting in good faith to carry out DEW’s mission, which includes “reduc[ing] and prevent[ing] unemployment,” *id.* § 41-29-120(A)(1)(a), and “promot[ing] the reemployment of unemployed workers,” *id.* § 41-29-120(A)(1)(d); *see also id.* § 41-29-25(A). Part of carrying out those duties requires deciding what is an “advantage” to “this

State and its citizens” under section 41-29-230(1).³ The General Assembly has made clear Director Ellzey cannot be sued based on what he decides. Contrary to Appellants’ contention, *see* Appellants’ Br. 15, this is not the general trumping the specific. Rather, it is reading the statutes harmoniously, so that Director Ellzey’s overriding obligations imbue all that DEW does. *See Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 342, 713 S.E.2d 278, 283 (2011) (“In interpreting a statute, the language of the statute must be read in a sense that harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose.”); (R. pp. 488–89 (Appellants’ admission that the Court must read related statutes together)).

And if the General Assembly did not want DEW’s executive director sued on these decisions, neither could it have wanted the Governor to be sued on them. *Cf. Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.”).

Nor can Appellants fall back on the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act. That act “is not an independent grant of jurisdiction.” *Tourism Expenditure Rev. Comm. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 403 S.C. 76, 81, 742 S.E.2d 371, 374 (2013). As the circuit court put it, that Act “provides a remedy, not a legal right.” (R. p. 7).

³ *Cf. Bd. of Bank Control v. Thomason*, 236 S.C. 158, 169, 113 S.E.2d 544, 549 (1960) (“By incorporating the convenience and advantage clause, the legislature determined that the public interest required a limitation on the number which should be licensed. Obviously no definite yardstick could be fixed. The standard prescribed is necessarily elastic. There are numerous circumstances to be considered, some of them requiring experience, expert knowledge and judgment. The Board of Bank Control was selected as having the necessary competence in this field.”); *Haesloop v. City Council of Charleston*, 123 S.C. 272, 115 S.E. 596, 600 (1923) (“The measure of the council’s fiduciary obligation is clearly and definitely prescribed by the grant in the words ‘conducive to the welfare and advantage of the said city and the inhabitants thereof.’ In the discharge of that trust the legal test of validity to be applied to the council’s action, as we apprehend, differs in no essential particular from the standard applicable under the law of trusts to a like exercise of discretion by the trustee of a private estate, vested with discretionary authority to manage and dispose of property for the advantage or best interests of the estate.”).

None of the cases Appellants cite are to the contrary. *See* Appellants’ Br. 16–17. They rely most heavily on *Linder v. Insurance Claims Consultants, Inc.*, 348 S.C. 477, 560 S.E.2d 612 (2002). *Linder*, however, involved the unauthorized practice of law, which is uniquely the province of this Court. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Const. art. V, § 4; Rule 407, SCACR (Rules of Professional Conduct). Unlike with unemployment, this Court expressly allows parties to obtain a declaratory judgment in its original jurisdiction on questions surrounding the unauthorized practice of law. *See In re Unauthorized Prac. of L. Rules Proposed by S.C. Bar*, 309 S.C. 304, 422 S.E.2d 123 (1992). But even with that procedure in place, the Court held “there is no private right of action in South Carolina for the unauthorized practice of law” that would allow a party to raise “a private claim for damages.” *Linder*, 348 S.C. at 497, 560 S.E.2d at 623. Yet here, Appellants seemingly seek both a declaratory judgment and mandatory injunctive relief akin to an award of damages on behalf of an unspecified number of South Carolinians. *See* (R. p. 36). Neither is supported by *Linder*. As for the other cases Appellants cite, none of them appears to have raised or expressly decided this question, so they cannot be binding authority. *See United States v. L. A. Tucker Truck Lines, Inc.*, 344 U.S. 33, 38 (1952) (“The effect of the omission was not there raised in briefs or argument nor discussed in the opinion of the Court. Therefore, the case is not binding precedent on this point.”). Appellants thus cannot rely solely on the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act to keep this case in court.

III. Appellants’ claims fail on the merits.

Even if Appellants did have a private right of action that was not practically or legally moot, their claims still fail on the merits. First, section 41-29-230(1) does not apply to the CARES Act, and PUA, PEUC, and FPUC are provisions of the CARES Act. Second, even assuming PUA, PEUC, and FPUC could somehow be construed as provisions of the Social Security Act instead,

the Governor and Director Ellzey still have discretion to determine whether those programs are advantages at a time when the State has more than 81,000 open jobs.

A. Section 41-29-230(1) does not require the State to participate in PUA, PEUC, and FPUC.

1. PUA, PEUC, and FPUC are provisions of the CARES Act, not the Social Security Act.

Section 41-29-230(1) provides:

In the administration of Chapters 27 through 41 of this title, the department must cooperate with the United States Secretary of Labor to the fullest extent consistent with the provisions of these chapters, and act, through the promulgation of appropriate rules, regulations, administrative methods and standards, as necessary to secure to this State and its citizens all advantages available under the provisions of the Social Security Act that relate to unemployment compensation, the Federal Unemployment Tax Act, the Wagner-Peyser Act, and the Federal-State Extended Unemployment Compensation Act of 1970.

S.C. Code Ann. § 41-29-230(1).⁴ Recognizing that this provision applies to only four specific federal laws (none of which is the CARES Act), Appellants contend PUA, PEUC, and FPUC are provisions of the Social Security Act merely because Congress directed the Secretary of the

⁴ Appellants, relying on a “liberal” interpretation of dicta in *Stone Manufacturing Co. v. S.C. Employment Security Commission*, 219 S.C. 239, 64 S.E.2d 644 (1951), which involved a previous statutory scheme, contend this statute must be read broadly as “social legislation.” *Compare* Appellants’ Br. 11, with *Stone Mfg. Co.*, 219 S.C. at 247, 64 S.E.2d at 647 (“While the statute under consideration is to be liberally construed in order to effect its beneficent purpose, we are not at liberty to adopt a construction which is wholly beyond the limits of the plain legislative intent.”). Whatever the legislation, it must be interpreted based on its plain language. *See Hodges*, 341 S.C. at 85, 533 S.E.2d at 581. That a statute may have a remedial purpose to some extent is not license to rewrite the statute. *See Buchanan v. S.C. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass’n*, 424 S.C. 542, 553, 819 S.E.2d 124, 130 (2018) (Few, J., concurring) (“If it were true courts have the authority to interpret statutes according to a sense of justice and right, then courts would have the power to rewrite statutes to suit their own personal preferences, regardless of legislative intent. Courts do not have that power.”). Nevertheless, the statutory scheme in effect today charges DEW with, among other things, “reduc[ing] and prevent[ing] unemployment,” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-29-120(A)(1)(a), and “promot[ing] the reemployment of unemployed workers,” *id.* § 41-29-120(A)(1)(d); *see also id.* § 41-29-25(A).

Treasury to utilize existing Social Security Act-related accounts to transfer money appropriated under the CARES Act.

Before delving into the statutory minutiae to demonstrate why Appellants are wrong, a quick reminder on how unemployment benefits traditionally work may be helpful. Benefits to individuals are funded by employers through state-imposed unemployment taxes. The administrative costs are paid by the federal government. Against that background, consider what PUA, PEUC, and FPUC did: They created new federal benefits that are paid to individual citizens. That is something that has never happened under the Social Security Act. Thus, these three CARES Act programs cannot be an extension or expansion of—much less “under the provisions of”—the Social Security Act.

The legislative record supports the conclusion that PUA, PEUC, and FPUC are not provisions of the Social Security Act. *First*, these three programs were created as part of the CARES Act, without any amendment to the Social Security Act. *See* CARES Act, Div. A, Title II, § 2102, 134 Stat. at 313 (PUA, codified at 15 U.S.C. § 9021); *id.* Div. A, Title II, § 2107, 134 Stat. at 323 (PEUC, codified at 15 U.S.C. § 9025); *id.* Div. A, Title II, § 2107, 134 Stat. at 323 (FPUC, codified at 15 U.S.C. § 9023). That is important because, in the flurry of COVID-19-related relief legislation (including in the CARES Act itself), Congress amended the Social Security Act on multiple occasions. *See, e.g.*, CARES Act, Div. A, Title II, § 2103, 134 Stat. at 317 (amending the Social Security Act regarding unemployment benefits for employees of governmental entities and nonprofits); Families First Coronavirus Response Act, Pub. L. 116-127, § 4012, 134 Stat. 178, 192–93 (Mar. 18, 2020) (amending the Social Security Act to provide additional administrative funding for States’ unemployment-insurance programs). Congress

therefore knew how to amend and expand the Social Security Act when it wanted to. It chose not to do so here.

Second, PUA, PEUC, and FPUC were codified in a new chapter of Title 15 of the United States Code. They were not codified in Title 42 where the Social Security Act is found. *See Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 94 (2003) (where an act is codified is “probative of the legislature’s intent”).

Third, if there is any ambiguity in this issue, the U.S. Department of Labor’s views should be considered. *See Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Nat. Res. Def. Council, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 837, 844 (1984). The Department of Labor issued six directives (or formal guidance) on PUA, four directives on PEUC, and six directives on FPUC. *See Unemployment Insurance Relief during COVID-19 Outbreak*, U.S. Dep’t of Labor, <https://tinyurl.com/3p9jcryy> (last visited Aug. 24, 2021) (collecting formal Department of Labor guidance on COVID-19 issues). Such a deluge of guidance would be unnecessary for “old” programs. Plus, this guidance repeatedly refers to PUA, PEUC, and FPUC as “new” federal programs. *See, e.g.*, Unemployment Insurance Program Letter 16-20 at 7, U.S. Dep’t of Labor (Apr. 5, 2020) (PUA is a “new federal program”), <https://tinyurl.com/ymetcwh>; Unemployment Insurance Program Letter 17-20 at 7, U.S. Dep’t of Labor (Apr. 10, 2020) (PEUC is a “new federal program”), <https://tinyurl.com/82v2zfrp>.

2. Appellants’ arguments to the contrary are unavailing.

Appellants argued below that PUA, PEUC, FPUC do “not create new benefits,” but instead are authorizations for “states to draw from benefits already conferred under the [Social Security Act].” (R. p. 166); *see also* (R. p. 292 (PUA, PEUC, and FPUC “are not new benefits” but were “temporary enhancements” under the Social Security Act)). As a result, DEW had an obligation to secure these existing benefits. Or so Appellants said.

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